0~7 SID J. WHITE JUN 23 1992 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By-Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

ν.

CASE NO. 79,535

WILLIE ANDERSON,

Respondent.

# AMENDED MERITS BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLA. BAR #325791

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050 904/488-0600

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

#

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

When this case, Anderson v. State, 592 So.2d 1119 (Fla.1st DCA 1992) first issued, it was the lead case in which the district court first certified a question of great public importance. However, a subsequent panel af the district court in Hodges v. State, 17 F.L.W. D787 (Fla. 1st DCA March 24, 1992), interpreted and applied the **case** here, Anderson, in a manner which negated the underpinnings of the certified question and placed the district court in direct and express conflict with a decision of this Court in Eutsey v. State, 383 So.2d 219 (Fla. 1980). Nevertheless, the Hodges panel certified the same question of great public importance. Thereafter, because of the subsequent interpretation and application by the Hodges panel and of procedural delays by respondent Anderson in filing his answer brief, Hodges became the lead case. Opposing counsel both here and in Hodges are the same. The facts in each case, although slightly different in detail, present the same legal issues. The state's arguments here, although adjusted for factual distinctions, are the same as those previously presented in Hodges. Thus, this case should travel with and be controlled by the Court's decision in Hodaes.

- 1 -

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent, Willie Lee Anderson, was charged with and convicted of four counts of sale of cocaine and four counts of possession of cocaine with intent to sell, for which he received concurrent sentences of thirty years' imprisonment as an habitual felony offender. (R 131-147)

At trial, respondent testified that he had been convicted of three felonies. (T. 100) Prior to sentencing, respondent was provided written notice of the prosecution's intention to seek habitual sentencing.  $(S1, 20)^{1}$  At sentencing, without objection, copies of two prior judgments and sentences were admitted in evidence, one for armed robbery and one for burglary and grand theft, the latter of which was rendered within five years of the current offense. (S2. 4-6) Defense counsel conceded that respondent was the same person as was identified in the two judgments and sentences, and he presented no evidence at the sentencing hearing. (S2. 5) When asked, "[I]s there any argument about whether or not the evidence is sufficient to support the finding''that the respondent qualified as an habitual felony offender, defense counsel responded, "No, sir. We just don't want to concede that it is." (S2. 6) Shortly thereafter, the trial court stated, "Based upon the evidence, I do find him to be a habitual felony offender.'! (S2. 7)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> There are two supplemental records, the first of which will be referred to as "S1" and the second one as "S2," the latter of which includes the sentencing transcript.

On appeal to the First District Court of Appeal, respondent raised two sentencing issues. He challenged the constitutionality of the habitual offender statute and the adequacy of the trial court's compliance with the provisions of the statute. With respect to the latter issue, he argued the following:

> Section 775.084(1)(a)1-4, Florida Statutes (1989), require the court to make four findings before imposing an extended term of imprisonment. Here, the trial court found that appellant was convicted of two earlier felonies, substantially satisfying ss. 775.084(1)(a)1 and 2; however, <u>the state made</u> no showing whatsoever, and consequently the <u>court was unable to find, that appellant had</u> not received a pardon for the earlier offenses, or that the convictions had not been set aside in a post-conviction proceeding.

Section 775.084(3)(d) provides that each of the findings required as the basis for an enhanced sentence "be found to exist by a preponderance of the evidence ...." Here, there was no evidence. The failure to make the minimal findings requires resentencing.

(I.B. 12) (emphasis supplied in boldface underlined type)

In response, the State argued as follows:

Mr. Anderson contends that the trial court failed to find that his prior felony convictions were still valid and that he had not been pardoned for these offenses. This issue is controlled by <u>Eutsey v. State</u>, 383 **So.2d** 219 (Fla. 1980) where the supreme court stated:

We also reject [the defendant's] contention that the State failed to prove that he had not been pardoned of the previous offense or that it had not been set aside in a post-conviction proceeding since these are affirmative defenses available to Eutsey rather than matters required to be proved by the State.

<u>Id.</u>, at 226,

Mr. Anderson testified at trial that he had been convicted of three prior felonies. (T. 100) The import of this testimony is that these convictions were still valid and that there had been no pardon; otherwise, he would not have admitted them, or, at the very least, would have explained that he had been pardoned. The trial court **heard** this testimony at trial.

At sentencing, Mr. Anderson raised no objection to the information contained in the presentence investigation report. Neither did he object to the calculations on the guidelines scoresheet, which included points for three prior third-degree felonies and one first-degree felony punishable by life. (T. 147) In addition, he stipulated that he was the defendant referred to in the two judgments and sentences admitted in evidence. (SR. 5)

The above facts make it abundantly clear that Mr. Anderson's convictions have not been set aside, and neither has the Governor pardoned him for committing these offenses. This was obvious to everyone at the hearing, and it explains why Mr. Anderson did not raise these affirmative defenses. Unless raised, the trial court **was** under no abligation to rule on them. The habitual offender statute must be read with its judicial gloss.

# (A.B. 6-7)

Thereafter, the First District published its opinion reversing the sentencing order because the trial court failed to find that the predicate convictions had not been pardoned or set aside. Inexplicably, no mention was made of Eutsey.

The State filed a motion for rehearing (copy attached), pointing out that **the** district court had overlooked controlling

precedent from this Court, <u>Eutsey</u>. Anderson filed a response to the State's motion (copy attached) in which he argued in substance that the trial court must make the statutory findings, irrespective of the absence of any evidence on the issues. To support his argument, he relied on Justice England's dissent in Eutsey.

The First District denied the State's motion with the following explanation:

The State's rehearing motion is premised on Eutsey v. State, 383 So.2d 219 (Fla. 1980). In Eutsey, the appellant was classified as an habitual offender under the 1977 habitual offender statute, following the trial court's finding that he "had not received a pardon and that his convictions had not been set aside in post-conviction relief proceedings." Eutsey at 223. Eutsey challenged this finding on appeal, alleging that the state had "failed to prove that he had not been pardoned of the previous offense or that it had not been set aside in a post-conviction proceeding." The Supreme Court rejected Eutsey's contention, in that "these are affirmative defenses available to Eutsey rather than matters required to be proved by the state." Eutsey at 226.

The State relies on this language to argue that the trial court's failure to **make** findings regarding the pardoning or setting aside of the predicate convictions was not error. It contends that, after <u>Eutsey</u>, no such findings are required if a defendant does not affirmatively raise the argument that the predicate convictions have been pardoned or set aside.

We reject this argument on several grounds. First, the habitual offender statute, both now and when <u>Eutsey</u> was decided, states that "each of the findings required as the basis for [an habitual offender] sentence <u>shall be</u> found to exist by a preponderance of the evidence." § 775.084(3)(d), Fla,Stat. (1989) (emphasis supplied). The statute does not qualify this requirement with regard to the pardoning or setting aside of the predicate convictions as set forth in section 775.084(1)(a)3. and 4. Therefore, the plain statutory language cannot be reconciled with the position which the state urges us to take on this issue.

The state attempts to overcome this obstacle by arguing that the plain language of the statute must be read with the "judicial gloss" placed thereon by Eutsey. However, the Eutsey trial court, unlike the trial court herein, made the statutorily required findings regarding the pardoning or setting aside of Eutsey's predicate convictions. Thus, the necessity of making findings on these issues in the absence of their allegation by the defendant was not before the court when it classified them as affirmative defenses, and we are reluctant to apply that language as urged by the state to qualify the plain requirements of the habitual offender statute.

Anderson, 592 So.2d at 1120-1121.

Stating that this Court's <u>Eutsey</u> decision of 1980, some 12 years prior to the decision of the district court here, had now "create[d] doubt as to the proper application of these statutory requirements," the First DCA certified the following question as one of great public importance:

> Does the holding in <u>Eutsey v. State</u>, **383 So.2d** 219 (Fla. 1980) that the state has no burden of proof as to whether the convictions necessary for habitual felony offender sentencing have been pardoned or set aside, in that they are "affirmative defenses available to [a defendant]," <u>Eutsey</u> at 226, relieve the trial court of its statutory obligation to **make** findings regarding those factors, if the defendant does not affirmatively raise, as a defense, that the qualifying convictions provided by the state have been pardoned or set aside?

Anderson, 592 So.2d at 1121.

# SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The district court decision conflicts with this Court's decision in <u>Eutsey</u> and with decisions of other district courts and the district court below. <u>Eutsey</u> should be reaffirmed and the decision below reversed.

2. The decision below is contrary to the settled rules that the burden of proof for affirmative defenses falls on the defendant and that a trial court is not required to rule on unraised affirmative defenses.

3. The decision below is contrary to the rule that final convictions are presumed valid until a colorable challenge is raised.

4. The decision below is contrary to the rule that sentencing hearsay is presumed valid until its accuracy is brought into question.

5. The <u>Eutsey</u> certified question should be answered yes and the decision below reversed.

- 7 -

### ARGUMENT

### ISSUE:

SHOULD THIS COURT RATIFY THE DISTRICT COURT DECISION BELOW WHICH OVERRULES <u>EUTSEY V. STATE</u>, 383 So.2d 219 (FLA. 1980) BY HOLDING THAT THE STATE HAS THE BURDEN OF PROOF FOR SHOWING, AND THE TRIAL COURT MUST FIND, THAT PREDICATE FELONIES NECESSARY FOR HABITUAL FELON SENTENCES HAVE NOT BEEN PARDONED OR SET ASIDE?

Because the case here should be controlled by this Court's disposition of <u>Hodges</u>, case no. 79,728, now pending, it is necessary to examine the inextricably intertwined holdings and relationship of <u>Hodges</u> and the case here, <u>Anderson</u>.

Anderson argued in the district court that the state failed to introduce evidence showing, and the trial court failed to find, that the predicate felonies for the habitual offender sentence had not been pardoned or set aside. This issue had not been raised at trial. The state relied on this Court's holding in <u>Eutsey</u> that these were affirmative defenses which had to be raised and proven by the defendant, rather than the state, and pointed out that Anderson had conceded three predicate felonies at trial, that he had not challenged either the presentence investigation report or the sentencing guidelines scoresheet, and had stipulated that he was the person in the two certified predicate judgments admitted in evidence. Nevertheless, without acknowledgment or reference to <u>Eutsey</u>, the district court held in relevant part:

The trial court's failure to make the findings required by section 775.084(1)(a)

is. however. reversible error, even in the absence of 'objection. Rolle v. State, 16 F.L.W. D2558 (Fla, 4th DCA October 2, 1991), citing Parker'v. State, 462 So,2d 747 (Fla. 1989) and Walker v. State, 462 So.2d 452 Anderson's (Fla. 1985). sentence must therefore be reversed. We note that, on remand for resentencing, the trial court may resentence Anderson as an habitual offender, if the requisite statutory findings are made supported the court and by the by evidence, [e.s.] Cites omitted.

Anderson, 592 So.2d at 1120.

By petition for rehearing, the state argued that the district court had overlooked entirely the state's reliance on Eutsey which had interpreted and glossed the statute to place the requirement for raising the affirmative defenses the on defendant. On petition for rehearing the district court wrote to explain its decision and to certify a question of great public importance. The explanatory opinion acknowledged that Eutsey placed the burden of proof on the defendant, not the state, but concluded that the trial court was nevertheless required to make the findings even if no evidence was introduced and no objections were entered. (The Anderson documents are in appendix A.)

Three significant points about <u>Anderson</u> require comment. First, **the case** law cited in support is factually inapposite. <u>Rolle</u>, without setting out the facts of the case or even the year of the statute at issue, simply holds that the trial court failed to make unspecified statutorily **required** findings and then cites <u>Parker</u> and <u>Walker</u> in support, The latter two cases address the failure of a trial court to **make** the formerly mandatory finding that protection of the public required imposition of habitual felon sentencing. That requirement, which clearly was **not** an

- 9 -

affirmative defense, was deleted fram section 775.084 in 1988. The cited cases lend no support to the proposition that a trial court must rule on the unraised affirmative defenses at issue here. Second, because, in good faith, we must assume that the district court considered that its holding was not in conflict with the Eutsey holding that the burden of proof was on the defendant, it had to believe that requiring the trial court to make factual findings was consistent with neither party introducing evidence to support the findings. That conclusion is simply illogical, as Hodqes subsequently held. Third, again in good faith, the district court's statutory interpretation of section 775.084 had to be based on a conclusion that Eutsey was not grounded on a statutory interpretation by this Court that section 775.084(1)(a)3 & 4 created affirmative defenses which had to be raised by the defendant and which were waived when not raised. By not recognizing that it was simply reploughing ground already authoritatively covered in Eutsey, the district court created direct and express conflict with a controlling decision of this Court.

The decision in <u>Hodqes</u> removes any doubt about direct and express conflict with <u>Eutsey</u> by (logically) interpreting <u>Anderson</u> as requiring the state, not the defendant, to assume the burden of proof on whether predicate felonies had been pardoned or set aside:

> "A corollary of the holding in Anderson, although not discussed, would appear to **be** that the burden rests upon the state to present evidence sufficient to enable the trial court to make such findings."

Contrast, Eutsey:

We also reject his contention that the State failed to prove that he had not been pardoned of the previous offense or that it had not been set aside in а post-conviction proceeding since these are affirmative defenses available to Eutsey rather than matters required to be proved by the State. Eutsey, 383 So.2d at 226.

(The Hodges decision is in appendix B.)

As will be seen below, <u>Anderson</u> and <u>Hodges</u> not only conflict with this Court's case law, they also conflict with case law from other districts and from the first district itself. It was helpful for the <u>Hodges</u> panel to explicitly recognize the implicit corollary holding of <u>Andersan</u> but these separate actions of the two panels individually and collectively placed the district court in direct and express con<sup>'</sup>flict with <u>Eutsey</u>. It would have been even more helpful for this Court, for the district court itself, and all the parties who appear before it in these habitual felon cases, had the panel followed the sound advice of <u>In Re Rule 9.331</u>, <u>Determination of Causes by a District Court of</u> <u>Appeal En Banc</u>, Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, **416** §0.2d **1127**, **1128** (Fla. 1982):

> We have full confidence that the district court of appeal judges, with a full understanding of our new appellate structural scheme, will endeavor to carry out their responsibility to make law consistent within their district in accordance with that intent. We would expect that, in most instances, a three-judge panel confronted with precedent with which it disagrees will suggest an en banc hearing. As an alternative, the district court panel could, of course, certify the issue to this Court for resolution. Consistency of law within a district is essential to avoid unnecessary and costly litigation.

Id.

It seems clear that the Hodges panel recognized there was a serious analytical flaw in Anderson which created conflict with The state suggests that intracourt resolution is far Eutsey. preferable to sending the parties off to the state's highest court with a certified question, particularly when, as here, there is also intracourt and intercourt conflict and the certified question has been undercut by the corollary holding. In Re Rule and Article V, section 3(b) of the Florida Constitution do not contemplate that this Court's limited jurisdiction, as with certified questions, will be a device to resolve intradistrict conflict or to otherwise substitute for district court en banc procedures.

The Anderson/Hodges holdings are not only inconsistent with the explicit holding of Eutsey that the statutory burden of proof is on the defendant to show that the predicate felonies have been pardoned or set aside. They are also contrary to the entire rationale of Eutsey in upholding the constitutionality of the statute. The Court in Eutsey addressed the broader question of whether the full panoply of due process rights required in the quilt phase was also required in the sentencing phase, i.e., was the state required to affirmatively prove all information used in the sentencing process beyond a reasonable doubt? The Court held it was not. One of the specific issues was whether the state could rely on presentence investigation reports and other hearsay in showing that the defendant should be sentenced as an habitual The Court held that it cauld and that the burden was offender. on the defendant to come forth with specific challenges to the

- 12 -

accuracy of hearsay and to introduce evidence and witnesses as appropriate. This principle is well-settled in case law, including cases from the 1st DCA below. <u>See, Myers v. State</u>, 499 So.2d **895, 897** (Fla. 1st DCA 1987) (Defendant is required to dispute truth of sentencing hearsay and, relying on <u>Eutsey</u>, in the absence of such dispute, "the trial court was not required to order the state to produce corroborating evidence,"); <u>Wright v.</u> <u>State</u>, 476 So.2d 325, 327 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985) ("Where, **as** here, the defendant does not dispute the truth of the listed convictions, the state is not required to come forward with corroborating evidence. <u>Eutsey v. State</u>, **383** So.2d **219** (Fla. 1980); McClain v. State, 356 So.2d 1256 (Fla. 2d DCA 1978)"

It should also be noted that <u>Eutsey</u> was decided in 1980. Despite the numerous changes to the statute over the years, as <u>Nodges</u> acknowledged, none have changed the relevant provisions which <u>Eutsey</u> interpreted. Thus, the subsequent legislative amendments and reenactments are presumed to approve <u>Eutsey</u>. See <u>Burdick v. State</u>, 594 So.2d 267 (Fla. 1992) ("It is a wellestablished rule of statutory Construction that when a statute is reenacted, the judicial construction previously placed on the statute is presumed to have been adopted in the reenactment.")

The above shows **beyond** all doubt that <u>Anderson</u> and <u>Hodqes</u> were wrongly decided. However, there are still other flaws and fallacies which deserve attention<sup>2</sup>. One of the characteristics

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Hoffman v. Jones, 280 So.2d 431, 434 (Fla. 1973) holds that "District Courts of Appeal , . . are free to certify questions of great public interest to this Court for consideration and even to state their reasons for advocating change" <u>but</u> "[t]hey are bound to follow the case law set forth by this Court." Because the

of affirmative defenses is that they represent exceptions to the norm, i.e., they represent a minority occurrence. For example, the overwhelming majority of homicides are not justifiable as self defense. Several propositions flow from this characteristic. Affirmative defenses are rarely at issue, so that evidence showing their absence would be irrelevant in the overwhelming majority of cases. Burdening trials with irrelevant evidence would serve no useful purpose, needlessly expand their length and cost, and tend to confuse the proceedings, even to the extent of causing reversible error. The only party who can claim an affirmative defense is the defendant. It would be improper, possibly reversible error, if the state made the absence of self defense a feature of a trial when self defense was not claimed by Moreover, the party in the position to bring the defendant. forth evidence on affirmative defenses is the defendant. That was, in fact, one of the major points at issue in Eutsey. Who has the burden of proving that a predicate conviction has been pardoned or overturned by post-conviction proceedings? Eutsey contended that the trial court's finding that no pardon or postconviction reversal had been entered was not supported by the record and that the state had the burden of proof. This Court rejected this argument by holding that the defendant had the

district court did not follow Hoffman v. Jones, the posture of the parties in this case is upside down. The petitioner/state is in the unusual position of urging this Court to uphold its own case law against a contrary district court decision without first hearing why this Court should recede from its own case law. Thus, the state's initial brief is perhaps longer than it might otherwise be if it were answering arguments for receding from settled law.

burden of raising and proving these affirmative defenses. <u>Eutsey</u> clearly stands for the proposition that introduction of certified copies of judgments or PSIs satisfy the preponderance of evidence test set out in the statute. This holding was consistent with settled law which, happily, is itself based on a common **sense** understanding of what is involved in proving or disproving affirmative defenses.

The common sense aspects are obvious if one thinks through the pardon and post-conviction processes. Pardons are granted by the Governor and Cabinet sitting as the Executive Clemency Board. See art. IV, §8, Fla. Const.; Ch. 940, Fla. Stat. To understate the matter, pardons are very rare. During the period 1989-1991 only 100 pardons were granted, an average of 33 per year.' Again severely understating the matter, if we assume that there are only 10,000 felony convictions a year, and that all 33 pardons are for felony convictions, the annual percentage of pardons to

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$  This information was extracted from the public records of the Board of Executive Clemency by the person responsible for maintaining those records. It is contained in a letter and attachment from the Coordinator of that office which is included here as appendix C. The figures confirm what common sense suggests, pardons as a percentage of felony convictions are extremely rare, very nearly non-existent. The state asks the Court to take judicial notice of this public record information pursuant to section 90.202(12) and 90.203(1), Florida Statutes. (A separate motion has also been filed). In this connection, note the holding in Eutsey that hearsay information may be considered by the courts in determining sentences, as in PSIs, unless their accuracy is challenged and refuted. This is particularly apt here because the Court is addressing sentencing issues which were not raised in the trial court. Should the Court decline to consider the figures in this paragraph, the entire paragraph can be struck without impact on the state's argument. The figures illustrating the statistical insignificance of pardons merely serve to put this pseudo issue in factual context.

felonies would be less than one-third of one percent. Raise the hypothetical 10,000 felonies to a realistic figure and it can be fairly said that the likelihood that a given defendant has received a pardon for a predicate felony is so unlikely **as** to be pragmatically nonexistent.

This pragmatic nonexistence decreases even further by factoring in the criteria for obtaining pardons set out in the Rules of Executive Clemency of Florida. A comparison of the eligibility requirements for applying for a pardon under the Rules  $^4$  and the eligibility requirements for an habitual offender under section 775.084 is very instructive. Section 5.A of the current Rules provides:

A person **may** not apply for a pardon unless he or she has completed all sentences imposed and all conditions of supervision have expired or been completed, including but not limited to parole, probation, community control, control release, and conditional release <u>for at least 10 years</u>. (e.s.)

Section 775.084(1)(a)2 provides:

2. The felony for which the defendant is to be sentenced was committed within 5 years of the date of the conviction of the last prior felony or other qualified offense of which he

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> These Rules constitute a plenary statement of the law in this state pursuant to Article IV, section 8 of the Florida Constitution. Dugger v. Williams, 593 So.2d 180, 182 (Fla. 1991). If needed, copies of the Rules should be obtainable from the Office of Executive Clemency pursuant to chapter 119, Florida Statutes, the Public Records Act. The previous rules in effect at the time of sentencing here were last amended on 18 September 1986. The current rules were last amended on 18 December 1991, effective 1 January 1992, A copy of the latter, which was provided by the Coordinator of the Office of Executive Clemency is provided here as appendix D. If respondent objects, and/or this Court wishes, the appendix can be struck without impact on the state's argument.

was convicted, or within 5 years of the defendant's release, on parole or otherwise, from a prison sentence or other commitment imposed as a result of a prior conviction for a felony or other qualified offense, whichever is later; (e.s.)

It is clear that the "within" five years eligibility criteria for an habitual offender and the "far at least 10 years" eligibility criteria for a pardon are mutually exclusive. The ten years represents a recent increase from a former five year requirement but the "within" and "for at least" would still be mutually exclusive. It is harder, and rightly so, for a person with a criminal record to meet the criteria for a pardon than it is for the same person to merely avoid the criteria for enhanced sentencing as an habitual offender,

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