IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

WILLIE LEE ANDERSON,

Respondent.



RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A, DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CAROL ANN TURNER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR, NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT FLA. BAR NO. 243663

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent, WILLIE ANDERSON, was the appellant below, and will be referred to herein by his proper name, or as "respondent." The State of Florida was the appellee below, and will be referred to herein as "state" or as "petitioner." The initial brief of petitioner will be referred to by the letters "IB" followed by the applicable page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts the state's statement of the case and facts.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The opinion of the First District Court of Appeal in <u>Anderson v. State</u>, does not conflict with any decision of this Court, or undermine any decision of this Court, particularly <u>Eutsey v. State</u>, 383 So.2d 219 (Fla. 1980). The opinion of the appellate court conforms with the legislative intent, and with judicial interpretation of the habitual felony offender statute, and should be confirmed by this Court.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE PRESENTED

DOES THE HOLDING IN EUTSEY V. STATE, 383 SO.2D 219 (FLA. 1980), THAT THE STATE HAS NO BURDEN OF PROOF AS TO WHETHER THE CONVICTIONS NECESSARY FOR HABITUAL FELONY OFFENDER SENTENCING HAVE BEEN PARDONED OR SET ASIDE, IN THAT THEY ARE "AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES'' AVAILABLE TO [A DEFENDANT]," EUTSEY AT 226, RELIEVE THE TRIAL COURT OF ITS STATUTORY OBLIGATION TO MAKE FINDINGS REGARDING THOSE FACTORS, IF THE DEFENDANT DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY RAISE, AS A DEFENSE, THAT THE QUALIFYING CONVICTIONS PROVIDED BY THE STATE HAVE BEEN PARDONED OR SET ASIDE?

The issue presented to this Court has arisen from an application below of long-standing statutory interpretation by this Court of the habitual offender statute. The decision below was based on sound judicial principles and reasoning, and should be affirmed by this Court.

The first significant case of this Court to address the fact finding requirements of the habitual felony offender statute was <u>Eutsey v. State</u>, **383 So.2d** 219 (Fla. 1980), which was primarily focused on the due process rights of an accused at sentencing. At the trial level in <u>Eutsey</u>, the judge made the findings as required by the statute. This court recited those facts, as follows:

At the conclusion of the hearing, the trial court found, beyond and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt, that Eutsey is the same person who was convicted of attempted robbery on January 23, 1976, and received a three-year sentence; that he is the same person who was convicted on July 20, 1978, of burglary in the present **Case**; that each is a felony; and that the latter conviction was within five years of

-4-

the earlier conviction, and commission of the latter crime was within nineteen or twenty days after Eutsey's release from prison on the first felony for which he was sentenced. The court further found that Eutsey had not received a pardon and that his convictions had not been set aside in post-conviction relief proceedings. The court went on to make extensive specific findings relative to its conclusion that an enhanced penalty was necessary for the protection of the public. The court then sentenced Eutsey to twenty-five years in (Id. at 223). prison.

It appears that Eutsey's primary complaint about the trial court's findings was centered on the finding relative to the conclusion that an enhanced penalty was necessary for the protection of the public, a finding that is no longer required by statute. This Court recognized the rationale behind the requirement for the findings when it stated: "The findings of the trial court in the present case are more than sufficient to make Eutsey's appeal of his enhanced sentence meaningful." (Id, at 226) (e.s.)

This Court then held that the state did not have to prove Eutsey had not been pardoned, or prove that previous offenses had not been set aside in post-conviction proceedings "since these are affirmative defenses," (Id, at 226). This Court did not, however, excuse the trial court from making the findings.

The fact that the trial court is not excused from making the findings is highlighted by Justice England's concurring/dissenting opinion, in which he expressed his desire that the findings be in writing, to facilitate meaningful appeals from enhanced sentences. The Justice was concerned

-5-

that "the appellate court will be put in a position of duplicating the sentencing function which is properly and exclusively that of the trial court" (<u>Id</u>. at 227).

The next significant decision regarding this issue is this Court's opinion in <u>Walker v. State</u>, **462** So.2d **452** (Fla. 1985). In <u>Walker</u>, the trial court did not specifically state the findings upon which it based the decision to extend Walker's sentence, and Walker did not contemporaneously object. The First District Court of Appeal dismissed Walker's appeal, with leave to pursue post-conviction relief. This decision conflicted with one arising from the Third District Court of Appeal. This Court took the view of the Third District Court with respect to the importance of the statutory findings, and held

> • • that the findings required by section 775.084 are critical to the statutory scheme and enable meaningful appellate review of these types of sentencing decisions. Without these findings, the review process would be difficult, if not impossible. It is clear that the legislature intended the trial court to make specific findings of fact when sentencing a defendant as a habitual offender. Given this mandatory statutory duty, the trial court's failure to make such findings is appealable regardless of whether such failure is objected to at (<u>Id</u>. at **454)** (e.s.), trial.

This Court did not pick and sort among the findings to establish which were vital and which were not. Instead, it recognized the clear language and intent of the legislature that all statutorily delineated findings were vital.

-6-

Had the legislature intended contrary to the decision of this Court, it has had ample time to adopt corrective legislation, but has chosen not to. And it cannot be said that the legislature has failed to act from inadvertence or careless oversight, because it has amended the findings requirement since <u>Parker</u>, but only by deleting the requirement that a judge find enhanced sentencing necessary for the protection of the public.' As the state noted in its initial brief, re-enactment of a statute following judicial interpretation thereof is presumed to adopt and confirm that judicial treatment (IB 13).

The most recent decision of this Court addressing the findings requirement of the habitual felony offender statute is <u>Parker v. State</u>, 546 So.2d 727 (Fla. 1989). In <u>Parker</u>, this Court declined to rule that it would be a better practice to reduce the trial court's findings to writing, thus affirming its holding in <u>Eutsey</u>, noting in doing so that the habitual felony offender statute itself did not require that the findings be in writing. The <u>Parker</u> decision did not in any way minimize the duty of the trial court to make the findings required by statute.

District Courts of Appeal have relied on these decisions. <u>Rolle v. State</u>, 586 So.2d 1293 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991), was cited by the First District Court, together with <u>Walker</u> and <u>Parker</u> in

-7-

^{&#}x27;Section 6, Chapter 88-131, Laws of Florida, presently 775.084(3).

the <u>Anderson</u> decision. The state has attempted to eliminate the authority of <u>Rolle</u> by stating in its brief that "<u>Rolle</u>, <u>without setting out the facts of the case or even the year of</u> <u>the statute at issue</u>, simply holds that the trial court failed to make unspecified statutorily required findings . .." (IB 9) (e.s.), Appellant would respectfully point out that the facts necessary for the decision in Rolle were indeed set forth, as follows:

The record shows that at the sentencing hearing the state recited appellant's record of prior convictions. The trial court, however, made no findings as required by section 775.084(1)(a), (Id. at 1293).

And, appellant notes that the findings requirement has remained virtually unchanged from the inception of the statute. The <u>Rolle</u> decision is solid, based on the solid authority of this Court's earlier decisions in <u>Parker</u>, <u>supra</u> and <u>Walker</u>, <u>supra</u>.

It is clear from these decisions of this Court spanning **a** decade that judicial compliance with the requirements of the statute is vitally important to the offender, and to the appellate process. The <u>Anderson</u> decision of the First District Court of Appeal is solid law, grounded on the foundation of legislative mandate and confirming judicial interpretation.

The state has reacted in a near-hysterical manner, conjuring for this Court a smoke and mirrors horror story of a judicial system collapsed under the weight of the <u>Anderson</u> decision (IB 18-19). The state overlooks the rationale behind this Court's decisions, i,e, to provide <u>meaningful</u> appellate

-8-

review, and prevent appellate courts from needless repetition of sentencing procedures. There is no conflict between <u>Anderson</u> and <u>Eutsey</u>, either in letter or spirit. This Court should confirm the decision of the First District Court of Appeal by answering the certified question in the negative.

CONCLUSION

Respondent requests this Court confirm the decision of the court below, and answer the certified question of the First District Court of Appeal in the negative.